IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 66,290

Third District Case No. 84-748

:

:

:

:

:

SOUTHERN RECORDS & TAPE : SERVICE, et al.,

Petitioners,

vs.

THE HONORABLE MURRAY GOLDMAN, etc.

Respondent.

## PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON MERITS

STEVEN R. BERGER, P.A. -and-HOFRICHTER & QUIAT, P.A. Attorneys for Petitioners Suite B-2 (279-4770) 8525 SW 92nd Street Miami, Florida 33156

JAN 18 1985

CLERK, SUPREME LOURT

By Chief Depúty Clerk

# TABLES OF CONTENTS

	Page
TABLES OF AUTHORITIES	ii-111
INTRODUCTION	1
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS	2
ISSUE	4
WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT ERRONEOUSLY REFUSED TO GRANT PROHIBITION HEREIN.	
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT	5
ARGUMENT	6

#### INTRODUCTION

This brief is submitted on behalf of the Petitioner, SOUTHERN RECORDS AND TAPE SERVICE, TONE DISTRIBUTORS, INC., and Q RECORDS AND TAPE, INC., (hereinafter referred to as "SOUTHERN RECORDS"). The Respondent is the HONORABLE MURRAY GOLDMAN (hereinafter referred to as "RESPONDENT").

The symbol "A" will be used to indicate the Appendix to this brief. All emphasis is provided by counsel unless otherwise indicated.

SOUTHERN RECORDS seeks the reversal of the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal denying its Petition for Writ of Prohibition in that same directly conflicts with the decision of WINN-DIXIE STORES, INC. V. FERRIS, 408 So.2d 650 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981), review denied, 419 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 1982). Additionally, the decision of the Third District interprets the provisions of Chapter 11A of the Code of Metropolitan Dade County in a manner contrary to the Florida Constitution and its dictates.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

 $\sim 2$ 

A charge of discrimination was filed by one, Emerita E. Abreu with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission on August 21, 1979 alleging discrimination in employment based upon her sex. A similar charge was filed with the Dade County Fair Housing and Employment Appeals Board on October 16, 1979. (A 1-4). After a hearing before the Dade County Fair Housing and Employment Appeals Board, orders were entered awarding attorney's fees and back pay to Emerita Abreau. (A 7-9).

Thereafter, a Petition for Rule Nisi was filed by Office of the County Attorney on behalf of the Dade County Fair Housing and Employment Appeals Board seeking to "enforce the final orders of employment discrimination and attorney's fee against SOUTHERN RECORDS AND TAPE SERVICES, a Florida corporation transacting business in Dade County, and its successors in interests, TONE DISTRIBUTORS, INC. and Q RECORDS AND TAPE, INC." Further, the County sought the issuance of a Rule Nisi "directing the employer to show cause why a Writ of Execution or such other process as may be necessary to enforce the said orders shall not be issued." (A 5-6). SOUTHERN RECORDS sought the dismissal of

the petition before the lower court. (A 10-13). This motion was denied. (A 14).

Consequently, SOUTHERN RECORDS petitioned the Third District for a Writ of Prohibition alleging that the lower court had no jurisdiction to enforce violations of county ordinances. This Writ of Prohibition was denied and the Third District certified that its decision was in conflict with the case of WINN-DIXIE STORES, INC. V. FERRIS, supra. (A 18-21).

Accordingly, relief was sought in this Honorable Court. (A 22).

# ISSUE

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DIS-TRICT ERRONEOUSLY REFUSED TO GRANT PROHIBITION HEREIN.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

SOUTHERN RECORDS respectfully submits that the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal in denying its Petition for Writ of Prohibition was in error in that same directly conflicts with the decision of WINN-DIXIE STORES, INC. v. FERRIS, supra. The Circuit Court did not have jurisdiction to entertain a suit to enforce a county ordinance and, further, to allow such a suit to be entertained by the Circuit Court is to allow the County to unconstitutionally determine the jurisdiction of the courts. Moreover, SOUTHERN RECORDS respectfully submits that Chapter 11A of the Code of Metropolitan Dade County is unconstitutional in that it allows the County to delegate an essentially judicial responsibility to an administrative body, i.e., the award of equitable remedies without the necessity of a trial de novo.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT ERRONEOUSLY REFUSED TO GRANT PRO-HIBITION HEREIN.

SOUTHERN RECORDS respectfully submits that the decision of the Third District was erroneous in that the Circuit Court acted without jurisdiction when it entertained an action to enforce the mandates of a county ordinance. Jurisdiction rests solely in the County Courts to interpret Chapter 11A of the Code of Metropolitan Dade County and to allow otherwise is to place an unconstitutional interpretation on same.

In this regard, prohibition allows a superior court to prevent an inferior court from exercising or usurping jurisdiction with which it has not been vested by law. Prohibition is not utilized when a court acts in excess of its jurisdiction, but where it has none to entertain the matter and thereby leaving no other adequate remedy for a party. ENGLISH V. McCRARY, 348 So.2d 293 (Fla. 1977); BURKHART V. CIRCUIT COURT OF ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, 1 So.2d 872 (Fla. 1941); SCHOOL BOARD OF MARION COUNTY V. ANGEL, 401 So.2d 359 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981). The jurisdiction of Circuit Courts is outlined in Section 26.012, Fla. Stat. in pertinent part as follows:

> (1) Circuit Courts shall have jurisdiction of appeals from County

Courts except appeals of County Court orders or judgments declaring invalid a state statute or a provision of the State Constitution. Circuit Court shall have jurisdiction of appeals from final adminsitrative orders of local government code enforcement boards.

Additionally, Section 34.01, Fla. Stat. outlines the jurisdiction of the County Courts in pertinent part as follows:

> (1) County Court shall have original jurisdiction:

> > \* \* \*

(b) Of all violations of municipal and county ordinances;

The creation and delegation of responsibilities for courts may only be determined by the State Legislature. See, Article V, Sec. 1, Florida Constitution (1968). Therefore, it was inappropriate for the Circuit Court to entertain the petition for rule nisi filed on behalf of the Fair Housing and Employment Appeals Board because same involved the enforcement of the provisions of Chapter 11A of the Code of Metropolitan Dade County.

A similar situation was presented in the case of WINN-DIXIE STORES, INC. V. FERRIS. A petition for enforcement was filed on behalf of the Broward County Board of County Commissioners and the Human Rights Board of Broward County seeking to enforce an order finding discrimination in

employment. On the same day that a charge of discrimination was filed with the Broward County Human Rights Board, a complaint was filed with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission created under Title VII, 42 U.S.C. 2000e, et. seq. of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. In FERRIS, the county sought to have the Circuit Court confirm and enforce the Human Rights Board order and the county ordinance which created the Board purported to create jurisdiction in the Circuit Court for such an action. In finding prohibition appropriate the court stated:

> The Circuit Courts of Florida do not have jurisdiction to enforce municipal or county ordinances. Article V, Sec. 6(b) provides that County Courts shall have uniform jurisdiction throughout the State and that such jurisdiction shall be as prescribed be general law. Pursuant to this constitutional mandate, the Legislature has described the jurisdiction of County Courts in Section 34.01, Florida Statutes (supp. 1980) which provides: 'County Courts shall have original jurisdiction: . . . (b) of all violations of municipal and county ordinances . . . .' In short, County Courts have jurisdiction to enforce municipal and county ordinances and the vesting of said jurisdiction in the County Court deprives the Circuit Courts of this jurisdiction. 408 So.2d at 652.

The Broward County Attorney's office attempted to argue that its suit was actually one for injunction and thus within the

8

jurisdiction of the Circuit Court. The Fourth District refused to accept this argument relying on the plain and simple allegations of the petition filed below and therefore, the court determined that prohibition was appropriate. See also, OLD REPUBLIC INSURANCE COMPANY V. WHITWORTH, 442 So.2d 1078 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) (prohibition is proper remedy where court acting without jurisdiction in suits seeking to have Circuit Court determine liability for on the job injury which is within the exclusive province of the Worker's Compensation Act.) See generally, LOWE V. PIERCE, 437 So.2d 142 (Fla. 1983); FESTA V. BRITTON, 372 So.2d 1168 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979); STATE ex rel ALTON V. CONK-LING, 421 So.2d 1108 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982).

 $\mathcal{O}(X)$ 

In the instant case, despite any attempts to allege to the contrary, the Petition below sought to enforce the judgment of the Fair Housing and Employment Appeals Board, and, in fact, entitled itself "Petition for Rule Nisi". This is patently clear from a simple reading of the petition. Black's Law Dictionary defines a Rule Nisi as:

> A rule which will become imperative and final unless cause be shown against it. This rule commands the party to show cause why he should not be compelled to do the act required, or why the object of the rule should not be enforced.

Clearly the County did not seek an injunction which maintains the status quo, but sought to require the court to enter orders which the County alleged were required to enforce the provisions of its Code. Moreover, if an injunction was in fact sought by the Fair Housing and Employment Appeals Board, same could only be prosecuted by the Consumer Advocate in accordance with the provisions of Section 11A-28 of the Code of Metropolitan Dade County. However, the bare allegations of the Petition for Rule Nisi belie any assertions that this was an action to enjoin SOUTHERN RECORDS. The Petition states it seeks to enforce the Code and requests orders to assist in this endeavor. In fact, Respondents began discovery proceedings in the trial court to locate assets of SOUTHERN RECORDS to obtain monies ordered by the Fair Housing and Employment Appeals Board. (A 15-17).

SOUTHERN RECORDS would note that other remedies were available to the original complainant, Abreau, if she sought to prosecute her charges of employment discrimination. Specifically, Section 760.10(12), Fla.Stat. and Title VII, 42 U.S.C. Sec. 2000e, et.seq. of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, provide for access to the State Circuit Courts or the Federal District Courts for a trial de novo regarding the charge of discrimination. The original complainant had

filed a charge with the EEOC and, therefore, this avenue was available to her as in FERRIS, supra.

.....

Moreover, to interpret Chapter 11A of the Code of Metropolitan Dade County so as to permit a suit to enforce in the Circuit Courts is to allow an impermissible delegation of responsibilities to the counties which rightly belongs to the Legislature. See, Article V, Sec. 1, Florida In this regard, Article VIII, Sec. 1 of the Constitution. Florida Constitution provides that counties only have powers which are not inconsistent with general law and, Section 125.01(w), Fla.Stat. provides the county may only do that which is not prohibited by law. As noted infra, Article V, Sec. 1, places the responsibility for the creation and delineation of duties with regard to courts in the the State Legislature which spoke in Sections 26.012 and 34.01, Fla.Stat. with regard to Circuit Courts and County Courts. Thus, to interpret Chapter 11A of the Code of Metropolitan Dade County so as to permit actions to enforce code violations in Circuit Court is to interpret same unconstitutionally and to allow an improper delegation of duties. See, BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF DADE COUNTY V. BOSWELL, 167 So.2d 866 (Fla. 1964).

Furthermore, SOUTHERN RECORDS respectfully submits that a review of the Petition for Rule Nisi in the Circuit

Court seems to indicate that the County was seeking to enforce the Board order without the necessity of a trial de SOUTHERN RECORDS maintains that this would permit the novo. County to in effect create a court contrary to the constitutional provisions noted above. Specifically, boards such as the Fair Housing and Employment Appeals Board have traditionally been utilized as fact finding agencies whose findings form the basis for a trial de novo in the court of appropriate jurisdiction. See, Section 760.10, Fla.Stat. and Title VII, 42 U.S.C Sec. 2000e, et.seq. of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. To suggest that the Fair Housing and Employment Appeals Board findings may stand on their own and not be subject to appropriate de novo challenge is to permit the County to create a court contrary to the Florida Constitution.

In this regard, Article V, Section 1 of the Florida Constitution states:

> The judicial power shall be vested in a Supreme Court, District Courts of Appeal, Circuit Courts and County Courts. No other courts may be established by the state, any political subdivision or any municipality. The Legislature shall, by general law, divide the state into appellate court districts and judicial circuits following county lines. Commissioners established by law, or administrative officers or bodies may be granted quasi-judicial power in 12

matters connected with the functions of their offices.

. . . .

Thus, Sections 26.012 and 34.01, Fla.Stat., established the jurisdiction of the Circuit and County Courts. However, the only courts which may be created are those authorized by Article V, Section 1. SIMMONS V. FAUST, 358 So.2d 1358 (Fla. 1978). In the instant case, METROPOLITAN DADE COUNTY, pursuant to Chapter 11A of its Code, created a board with the power to award equitable remedies of back pay and in effect created a court. Unfortunately, Article II of the Florida Constitution prohibits the delegation of duties of any branch of government to another. As stated in the case of MCRAE V. ROBBINS, 9 So.2d 284 (Fla. 1942) in its concurring opinion:

> While the essentially legislative and judicial 'powers of the government' as stated by Article II of the Constitution may not be delegated, yet because of the necessities arising upon contemplated contingencies or unascertained facts or conditions, or in the detailed or complicated administration of a law, when direct or immediate or continuing legislative or judicial action is inexpedient or impracticable, adminstrative functions, including quasi-legislative or quasi-judicial functions of government not involving any essentially judicial or legislative powers, may within definite limitations be conferred upon and exercised or performed by permissible administrative agencies. . .9 So.2d at 290.

Moreover, as stated in the case of CANNEY V. BOARD OF PUB-LIC INSTRUCTION OF ALACHUA COUNTY, 278 So.2d 260 (Fla. 1973):

> As a general rule administrative agencies have no general judicial powers, notwithstanding they perform some quasi-judicial duties, and the Legislature may not authorize officers or bodies to exercise powers which are essentially judicial in their nature. . An adjudicatorial proceeding before a public adminsitrative officer or body is not an action at law. . The administrative body is not a part of the judiciary. . 278 So.2d at 262 (citations omitted).

Petitioner would respectfully submit that the award of legal or equitable damages is an essentially judicial power which cannot be delegated to an adminsitrative body.

Therefore, in the case of MAYO V. MARKET FRUIT COM-PANY OF SANFORD, 40 So.2d 555 (Fla. 1949) a representative from the office of the Commission of Agriculture heard a case involving the failure to account for use of fruit in violation of then Sections 596.11 and 596.14, Fla.Stat.. The Commission representative awarded damages in the amount of \$7.000.00. The Supreme Court only found this monetary award to be permissible because the Commission could not enforce its orders and a suit with a trial de novo was the only means for obtaining the damages sought. The court indi-

cated that if the Commission had the ability to enforce its own orders that this would result in the deprivation of trial by jury and access to the courts. The court further noted that the findings of the Commission's representative acted solely as evidence in the trial de novo. This is true as well in discrimination cases. See, DICKERSON V. METRO-POLITAN DADE COUNTY, 659 F.2d 954 (5th Cir. 1981).

1.1

Accordingly, damages are a judicial remedy and are within the exclusive jurisidction of the courts as provided by Article V of the Constitution. Thus, an adminsitrative body cannot order equitable remedies. BALTIMORE CONSTRUC-TION COMPANY V. FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF GENERAL SERVICES, 363 So.2d 851 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978). Back pay, as herein, is an equitable remedy and beyond the province of the Fair Housing and Employment Appeals Board. See, LINCOLN V. BOARD OF REGENTS, 697 F.2d 928 (11th Cir. 1983).

SOUTHERN RECORDS respectfully submits that any action which the Fair Housing and Employment Appeals Board may take with regard to its findings must include a trial de novo with regard to the merits of the original charge of discrimination.

Therefore, SOUTHERN RECORDS respectfully submits that the Writ of Prohibition should have been issued by the Third District in that the Circuit Court was acting without

jurisdiction to entertain an action to enforce the provisions of the County ordinance. Additionally, to suggest that the County ordinance permitted such an action to be brought in Circuit Court is to interpret same in an unconstitutional fashion.

16

## CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing cases, authorities and reasons, SOUTHERN RECORDS respectfully submits that the decision of the Third District must be reversed as same is in conflict with the case of WINN-DIXIE STORES, INC. V. FERRIS, supra. Prohibition was appropriate herein in that the RESPONDENT was acting without jurisdiction and to interpret the Code of Metropolitan Dade County otherwise is to make same unconstitutional.

> STEVEN R. BERGER, P.A. -and-HOFRICHTER & QUIAT, P.A. Attorneys for Petitioner Suite B-8 (279-4770) 8525 SW 92nd Street Miami, Florida 33156

By

Steven R. Berger

17