IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA
CASE NO. 66,290
3rd DCA Case #84-748

SOUTHERN RECORDS & TAPE SERVICE, et al.,

Petitioners,

vs.

THE HONORABLE MURRAY GOLDMAN, etc.,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. GINSBURG Dade County Attorney 16th Floor Dade County Courthouse 73 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 375-5151

Ву

Daniel A. Weiss Assistant County Attorney

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

The nine-member quasi-judicial Board deliberated "in the sunshine" as prescribed by §286.011, Fla.Stat., and their deliberations were recorded stenographically by a court reporter, as was the entire proceeding before the Board. Two hearings were had on the award of attorney's fees; three expert witnesses testified and were subject to cross-examination.

Thus, Southern Records has benefited from the full panoply of due process protections which may be afforded a litigant in quasi-judicial administrative proceedings.

Southern Records was afforded an opportunity to respond to

a written charge of discrimination and a full staff investigation prior to the finding by the agency Executive Director of sex discrimination in employment in violation of §11A-22(a) of the County's Fair Housing and Employment Ordinance and recommendation that the employee be made whole. Next, Southern Records requested and received a full-blown trial-type evidentiary hearing de novo in which, as respondent, it bore no burden of proof.

Southern Records has had the <u>de novo</u> proceeding which due process demands. The Florida Constitution and statutes do not entitle Southern Records to a third "bite of the apple."

Southern Records' claim (Br.15) that any Board action must include a trial <u>de novo</u> is negatived by §26.012(1), Fla.Stat., which expressly authorizes direct circuit court review of "appeals" from final administrative orders of local government code enforcement boards. There is no requirement for a <u>de novo</u> judicial proceeding after a <u>de novo</u> quasi-judicial proceeding. Moreover, the delegation of adjudicative functions to an administrative agency with special expertise in the subject matter, with the right of judicial review retained, does not violate the constitutional separation of powers principle. <u>Beall Construction Co. v.</u> Occupational Safety and Health Review Commission, 507 F.2d 1041, 1045 (8th Cir. 1974).

Substantive law determines whether a litigant's single authorized trial <u>de novo</u> is before a judicial or quasi-judicial tribunal. <u>See</u> 1 Fla.Jur. 2d, Administrative Law §15. For example, in the case of <u>Mayo v. Market Fruit</u>

<u>Co. of Sanford</u>, 40 So.2d 555 (Fla.1949)(en banc) a fruit

grower filed a formal complaint with the Commissioner of Agriculture against the Market Fruit Company. After a hearing as prescribed by law, the Commissioner ordered the producer to pay the complainant \$7,000 to make the latter whole for damages suffered as a result of the respondent's statutory violation. Southern Records claims that this Court affirmed the award on the basis that the respondent was entitled to a de novo jury trial in the enforcement proceeding. This is untrue. Sec. 596.13, Fla.Stat. (1941) expressly provided for a successful petitioner in the administrative procedure followed in Mayo to bring suit for enforcement in a civil court of competent jurisdiction in the event of the respondent's noncompliance with the Commissioner's order. In such an action for enforcement, the findings and order of the Commissioner from the quasi-judicial administrative proceeding were to be deemed by the enforcing court "prima facie evidence of the facts stated therein." Sec. 596.13, Fla.Stat. (1941). Hence, the plain language of the statute under which the Mayo proceeding was brought negates Southern Records' contention (Br.14-15) that this Court found the \$7,000 award to be permissible because a trial by jury de novo was the only means for obtaining the damages sought.

Since entry and execution of judgment is a power residing solely in the judiciary, Southern Records is correct in asserting that the private complainant in Mayo could not enforce without judicial intervention the \$7,000 award entered by the Commissioner. That judgment may be executed only by the courts is the very reason that the Fair Housing and Employment Appeals Board has filed its

petition below seeking enforcement of its own administrative final order. This is also the reason that a successful complainant before the Industrial Claims Commission must file a petition for rule nisi to enforce a Workers' Compensation claim against an intransigent employer. See Workers' Compensation Law, §440.24(1), Fla.Stat.

Approval by this Court of the \$7,000 award in Mayo was grounded upon the protections which inhere when the court rather than an administrative agency wields the power of enforcement. In Mayo, the matter was placed before the circuit court on petition for certiorari. 40 So.2d at 556. On certiorari review of the final order of an administrative agency, the court reviews the record made below to determine whether there is any substantial competent evidence to support the agency findings and to ensure that there has been no departure from the essential requirements of law. City of Deerfield v. Vaillant, 419 So.2d 624 (Fla. 1982). Certiorari review was as available to Southern Records as it was to the Market Fruit Company of Sanford in the Mayo case. Market Fruit Company was successful in challenging one aspect of the Commissioner's computation of the damages award, although this Court affirmed the final order requiring that damages be paid. Southern Records, by disdaining to petition the circuit court for review, §11A-9, Code of Metropolitan Dade County, Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(c)(1)(C), waived its entitlement to have the Fair Housing and Employment Board's final orders reviewed. (While such review is procedurally by direct appeal, the standard of review is classic certiorari, De Groot v. Sheffield, 95 So.2d 912 (Fla. 1957), just as in Mayo, 40 So.2d at 556.)

Mayo further stands for the proposition that an administrative entity may order restitution as between private litigants, since such an award is subject to judicial review for compliance with the essential requirements of law, thereby fully protecting the constitutional rights of the adversary parties. 40 So.2d at 558. Cf. Judge Barkdull's dissent herein 458 So.2d at 327. See also Scholastic Systems, Inc. v. LeLoup, 307 So.2d 166 (Fla. 1974), where the petitioner claimed its constitutional rights were violated by an Industrial Claims Commission monetary award in the absence of a right of direct appeal to the courts. This Court said: "A party is afforded his 'day in court' with respect to administrative decisions when he has a right to a hearing and has the right of an appeal to a judicial tribunal of the action of an administrative body." Id. at 169.

Were this not so, thousands of municipal and county boards throughout the state would cease to function to adjust differences between private citizens. Zoning boards, for example, have for decades "adjudicated" the rights of persons to construct, modify or cause to have removed structures which encroach upon the property or otherwise violate the rights of neighbors. If the Third District dissent herein accurately reflected Florida law, the floodgates would be open to require the courts to settle myriad disputes which are now finally resolved administratively in every facet of daily life with which local agencies are involved.

Indeed, this Court long ago recognized the fact that in the complex society in which we live, the orderly

administration of the affairs of the people requires such administrative agencies to act in lieu of the courts in matters within the agencies' purview. Odham v. Foremost Dairies, Inc., 128 So.2d 586, 592-93 (Fla.1961). This Court has even referred to the "administrative department" as the fourth branch of government. State ex rel. Olden v. Rose, 123 Fla. 544, 167 So. 21, 22 (1936); State ex rel. Taylor v. City of Jacksonville, 101 Fla. 1241, 133 So. 114, 115 (1931) (en banc).

The inescapable inference from Southern Records' position is that each time a party is dissatisfied with the result of a <u>de novo</u> quasi-judicial proceeding to determine whether a county ordinance has been violated, the party may choose between a judicial appeal and a judicial <u>de novo</u> proceeding to rehear the very violation just determined.

It requires little imagination to predict what the increased burden would be on the judiciary if this Court were to accept Southern Records' position. The entire notion of a second <u>de novo</u> proceeding flies in the face of a huge body of statutory and case law limiting the scope of review of local and state quasi-judicial administrative action. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, cases decided under §120.68, Fla.Stat.

The underlying violation of Dade County's civil rights ordinance has been fully litigated. Southern Records failed to avail itself of the opportunity for appellate review pursuant to §11A-9, Code of Metropolitan Dade County, and Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(c)(1)(C). All matters embodied in the Fair Housing and Employment Appeals Board's final orders are finally concluded, and this Court should

enforce repose under the doctrine of administrative <u>res</u>

<u>judicata</u>. <u>Metropolitan Dade County Board of County</u>

<u>Commissioners v. Rockmatt Corp.</u>, 231 So.2d 41 (Fla. 3d DCA 1970). The final orders of the Board may not be collaterally attacked in this proceeding. <u>Rubin v. Sanford</u>, 168 So.2d 774 (Fla. 3d DCA 1964), <u>cert. den.</u>, 180 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1965).

ARGUMENT

ΙI

THIS HONORABLE COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO EXERCISE ITS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION HEREIN BECAUSE THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRONEOUSLY CERTIFIED ITS DECISION AS IN DIRECT CONFLICT WITH THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN WINN-DIXIE AND THE ISSUE SUB JUDICE IS NOT RIPE FOR REVIEW BY THIS COURT

A. The Decisions in <u>Southern Records</u> and <u>Winn-Dixie</u> Are Not in Direct Conflict on the Issue of Availability of Other Legal Remedies.

The Third District has certified "this question" to be "in express and direct conflict with Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc.

v. Ferris, 408 So.2d 650 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981), review denied,

419 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 1982)." 458 So.2d at 327. "[T]his question" apparently is "[w]hether, as argued by [Southern Records], other remedies foreclosing equitable relief are available to Abreu [the discharged employee], is a question to be determined by the trial court." Id.

The Fourth District determined that the petition assertedly for injunctive relief in the lower tribunal was precluded because of the existence of adequate legal remedies.

The Petition sought confirmation and enforcement of an order rather than injunctive relief based upon the inadequacy of other legal remedies.

Mr. Paige clearly has remedies available. He has proceeded before the EEOC and presently has pending an action in Federal District Court under Title VII of the 1964 Civil Rights Act. He further had an action available to him pursuant to Section 23.167(12), Florida Statutes (1979).

<u>Winn-Dixie</u>, <u>supra</u>, 408 So.2d 652-53. The Fourth District found that the Broward County Human Rights Board had failed to plead properly for equitable relief. Id., 408

So.2d at 652. The district court then concluded that the court below lacked jurisdiction over the subject matter.

408 So.2d at 653. Sub judice, no mention was made in the lower tribunal of any other remedy. See Southern Records' motion to dismiss, App. at 7-8, which is wholly devoid of any assertion that Mrs. Abreu has an adequate remedy at law. It is only at the present final stage of the prohibition proceeding before this Honorable Court that Southern Records seeks -- in patent violation of the applicable rules of procedure -- to argue the availability to Mrs. Abreu of another remedy. See Appendix to Brief of Petitioner at 1-4.

Moreover, the Fourth District failed to explain precisely how the adequacy of a remedy at law could properly be adjudicated on a motion to dismiss so as to justify issuance of a writ prohibiting the circuit court from taking equity jurisdiction over a particular subject matter. The question of the adequacy vel non of legal remedies is properly determined by factual proofs submitted to the trial court in support of the defense of failure to state a cause of action sounding in equity or to prove entitlement to equitable relief on the merits. Such matters do not form the basis of dismissal for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. Cf. Winn-Dixie, where the defendant obtained a writ of prohibition without filing a pleading, prevailing in the district court on the basis of "various motions attacking the jurisdiction of the circuit court over the subject matter of the litigation." 408 So.2d at 651.

In diametric opposition to the foregoing analysis by the Fourth District, the Third District expressly (and properly) eschewed to resolve the merits of the parties' claims within the instant prohibition proceeding, and stated that the issue whether "other remedies foreclosing equitable relief are available to Abreu, is a question to be determined by the trial court." 458 So.2d at 327.

The <u>Winn-Dixie</u> court gave no indication that it was informed of federal policy concerning efforts to secure compliance with Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §2000e, et seq. In <u>Alexander v. Gardner-Denver Co.</u>, 415 U.S. 36, 45, 94 S.Ct. 1011, 39 L.Ed.2d 147 (1974), the United States Supreme Court said that Congress provided "parallel or overlapping remedies against discrimination" and provided for "consideration of employment-discrimination claims in several forums.... And, in general, submission of a claim to one forum does not preclude a later submission to another.... Moreover, the legislative history of Title VII manifests a congressional intent to allow an individual to pursue independently his rights under both Title VII and other applicable state and federal statutes. Id. at 47-49.

Additionally, <u>Winn-Dixie</u> does not discuss whether the Broward Human Rights Board is an EEOC deferral agency under section 706 of the federal Civil Rights Act of 1964. From the Fourth District account, it appears that the discrimination charge against Winn-Dixie was pursued administratively through both federal and local anti-discrimination agencies. It appears that the discrimination charge sub judice may have been filed

initially with EEOC (see Southern Records' Br., App. at 1-4) and deferred (pursuant to contractual arrangement) to the Metropolitan Dade County Fair Housing and Employment Appeals Board, an authorized section 706 deferral agency. See also §760.06(11), Fla.Stat.(1983), §23.166(11), Fla.Stat.(1981). If this is true, a different analysis may apply to the facts herein than was applied by the Winn-Dixie court, since it is the intent of 42 U.S.C. §2000e-5 to give state and local civil rights agencies an opportunity to resolve problems of employment discrimination and thereby make resort to federal relief unnecessary. Oscar Mayer & Co. v. Evans, 441 U.S. 750, 99 S.Ct. 2066, 60 L.Ed. 2d 609 (1979). In the absence of appropriate responsive pleadings and a factual record, it is impossible to determine whether an adequate remedy at law exists which would foreclose the relief sought in the trial court.

As a matter of law an adequate legal remedy is one which defeats by its existence the jurisdiction of equity, being a remedy which is plain, clear, and certain, prompt or speedy, sufficient, full, or complete and efficient to the attainment of the ends of justice. 27 Am.Jur. 2d Equity §94. An action at law is not adequate where the case requires preventative relief, such as the avoidance of a multiplicity of suits or the prevention of repeated of continuing wrongs, City of Jacksonville v. Giller, 102 Fla. 92, 135 So. 549 (1931), and, indeed, where peculiarly equitable relief is required, any remedy at law is inadequate Pepple v. Rogers, 104 Fla. 462, 140 So. 205 (1932). Therefore, where as here, preventative relief is sought in

the form of compliance with insurance provisions (App. at 1,¶2(e)) and the peculiarly equitable relief of expunction of offending personnel records (App. at 1, ¶2(d)), there is plainly no adequate remedy at law. See City of Jacksonville v. Giller and Pepple v. Rogers, supra. Herein, the relator's adequate remedy at law is the very administrative proceeding whose final orders are here sought to be enforced.

B. The Decisions in <u>Southern Records</u> and <u>Winn-Dixie</u> Are Not in Direct Conflict on the Issue of Whether the Pleadings Properly Place the Cause Within Circuit Court Jurisdiction.

Circuit court jurisdiction is invoked by good faith allegations in the pleadings. See Zuckerman v. Professional Writers of Florida, Inc., 398 So.2d 870 (Fla. 4th DCA), rev. den., 411 So.2d 385 (Fla. 1981); Festa v. Britton, 372 So.2d 1168 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979). Jurisdictional allegations in Southern Records and Winn-Dixie are plainly distinguishable:

Southern Records

- a. "the amount involved exceeds \$11,000", 458 So.2d at 327
- b. "its allegations...
 justif[y] equitable
 relief", 458 So.2d
 at 327
- c. "filed a petition in the circuit court for enforcement of its orders", 458 So.2d at 326

Winn-Dixie

- a. no monetary claim, 408 So.2d 650-53
- b. "[T]he pleading filed belies the argument" that the petition was for injunction of a public nuisance or "simply a suit for injunction under the general equitable jurisdiction of the Circuit Court." 408 So.2d at 652
- c. The ordinance provided for "de novo" judicial proceedings. 408 So.2d at 650 n.1

The above-quoted findings of the Third District regarding the matters before the trial court <u>sub judice</u> are in stark contrast to the corresponding findings of the Fourth District in <u>Winn-Dixie</u>. The Third District clearly stated that allegations in the pleading filed in the lower tribunal involved an amount in excess of \$11,000 and justified equitable relief. <u>Southern Records</u>, 458 So.2d 327. No such statement is present in the <u>Winn-Dixie</u> opinion.

C. The Decisions in <u>Southern Records</u> and <u>Winn-Dixie</u> Are Not in Direct Conflict on the Merits of the Ultimate Issue Placed Before the District Courts.

The <u>Winn-Dixie</u> court reached the merits of the adversary parties' jurisdictional arguments. The court considered and adjudicated all the defenses asserted by Winn-Dixie, although the employer had raised its objections only by motion, and had filed no pleading. <u>See</u> 408 So.2d at 651. The district court concluded "that the court below lacked jurisdiction over the subject matter." 408 So.2d at 653.

The Third District never reached the issue of subject matter jurisdiction. The <u>Southern Records</u> majority expressly found it inappropriate to determine the ultimate issue of subject matter jurisdiction in the prohibition proceeding. It said:

We deem it unnecessary to reach the merits of the respective claims; the issue may properly be addressed on appeal [from the final judgment in the case].

458 So.2d at 326.

Plainly, <u>Southern Records</u> and <u>Winn-Dixie</u> are <u>not</u> conflicting decisions on the issue of whether the circuit court has subject matter jurisdiction in the matters under

consideration. The Third District majority declined to reach the issue of subject matter jurisdiction, citing the availability of plenary appeal. The Fourth District decided the jurisdictional issue and prohibited the circuit judge from proceeding to the merits of the parties' claims.

Since the "question" of jurisdiction, vel non, was not answered by the Third District, no conflict on the jurisdictional question is properly before this Court in the present posture of this case. Moreover, it appears that the decision in Winn-Dixie prohibiting the circuit court from taking jurisdiction may have been correct on the facts and law reviewed by the Fourth District; it is abundantly clear that the circuit court has jurisdiction of the within cause on the facts and law of the instant cause. See Point I, ante.

CONCLUSION

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